

Research Brief Alcohol Common Consumption Areas

January 2025

LCB Research Program

The Research Program at the Washington State Liquor and Cannabis Board (LCB) is a non-partisan, transparent resource focused on public health and safety outcomes related to the products, policy, and regulation of alcohol, cannabis, tobacco, and vapor products.

Purpose

After recent conversations with stakeholders, LCB's Licensing Division asked the Research Program to summarize state alcohol regulations on common consumption areas (CCAs). These areas are designated drinking spaces that allow the possession and consumption of alcoholic beverages purchased from participating licensed stores and restaurants. This brief is based on a review of existing state regulations and policies, and other credible information sources.

This document does not represent an official position of LCB.

Contact

For more information about the Research Program and its work, please visit: lcb.wa.gov/research_program.

For specific questions about this brief, please email the Research Program at: lcbresearch@lcb.wa.gov.

Acknowledgements

This research brief was written by members of the LCB Research Program. Subject matter experts from LCB, including the Public Health Education Liaison, provided review and feedback.

Background

Alcohol common consumption areas (CCAs) are designated drinking spaces that allow for the possession and consumption of alcoholic beverages purchased from participating stores and restaurants. The participating establishments are typically near each another (**Figure 1**). Consolidating alcohol consumption into a designated area aims to promote responsible drinking while supporting local businesses.¹⁻²

Figure 1. Example Setup of a Designated CCA.¹



CCAs and Open Container Laws

Both CCAs and "open container" laws are aimed at regulating alcohol consumption in public spaces to support businesses. However, there are key differences. For example, CCAs are much narrower in scope and have designated, permitted, or licensed zones for alcohol consumption. In contrast, open container laws allow for open drinks in broader public spaces such as sidewalks, streets, and parks (e.g., Bourbon Street/French Quarter in New Orleans; Power & Light District in Kansas City; Las Vegas Strip).³ Denver's CCA planning materials specify that "Denver will NOT become Bourbon Street".¹

U.S. State Regulations

Common Consumption Areas are relatively new in the U.S.⁴ The statutes authorizing CCAs are typically enacted by state government, and then approved and implemented by local governments (county or city).² In 2011, Colorado was the first state to pass a statute allowing the establishment of CCAs.⁴ Over the next decade, several cities in Colorado authorized CCAs in their local ordinances. Denver underwent an extensive planning, outreach, and rulemaking process related to the authorizing and permitting of CCAs final rulemaking was completed in 2021.^{1,4}

As of today, 13 U.S. states have authorized CCAs (**Figure 2**).

Figure 2. U.S. States that have authorized CCAs.⁵⁻¹⁸



Although state regulations vary, most CCAs are required to have:⁵⁻¹⁸

- A single, contiguous designated area;
- Signage (e.g., **Figure 3**) indicating the CCA;
- Physical barriers separating the CCA from vehicle traffic;

- Specific hours of operation;
- Safety and security plans, including compliance with any local ordinances (e.g., noise);
- Distinctly labeled beverage containers that clearly display vendor names;
- An approved application, permit, or license that are unique from other alcohol license types; and
- A requirement of at least two liquor-licensed businesses for the application process and management of the CCA (i.e., a managing entity).

In addition, CCAs generally prohibit:

- Consuming alcohol from anywhere other than licensed businesses participating in the CCA;
- Unmarked alcohol containers;
- Removal of any alcohol beverages from the CCA.⁵⁻¹⁸

Figure 3. CCA signage in Hays, Kansas.¹⁹



Most of the CCAs that have been authorized in the U.S. are required to be within larger "entertainment districts," which are designated areas meant to foster community engagement and support local businesses.⁵⁻¹⁸ California and Oklahoma have authorized licensees to share a common on-site consumption area without requiring them to be part of a designated entertainment district.^{7,16}

A few states have additional allowances or restrictions as part of their CCAs, such as restricting the size of alcohol beverages and allowing communal dining areas. For example, Colorado restricts beverage container size to 16 ounces.⁵⁻¹⁸

Limited Research

There is limited research to date on the impacts of CCAs. It appears CCAs are providing some economic benefits in some places indicated by the prevalence of CCA implementation in new jurisdictions. For example, Kansas has now licensed 32 CCAs and is planning to relax certain existing CCA requirements such as closing streets to motor vehicle traffic.²⁰

Conversely, Denver has not issued any permits for CCAs since its launch in 2021, despite its extensive planning process. Reasons for the lack of participation may include a limited ability for restaurants and bars to expand after the pandemic, new outdoor dining spaces created during the pandemic and allowed to become permanent, the option to apply for an outdoor communal dining permit, and a lengthy approval process.²¹ However, several other cities in Colorado have successfully authorized and implemented CCAs.¹

More research is needed to assess public health and safety risks associated with CCAs. Evaluation approaches could include longitudinal comparisons before and after CCA implementation, as well as comparisons of CCA vs. non-CCA areas and businesses. Suggested data collection include:

- Violations/citations, including:
 - Alcohol access/consumption by minors (e.g., from drink handoffs);
 - Overservice to intoxicated patrons purchasing from multiple businesses in the CCA;
 - Removing alcohol from the CCA;
 - Consumption of alcohol from anywhere other than licensed businesses participating in the CCA;
 - o Unmarked alcohol containers;
 - Complaints in/around the CCA; and
 - Warnings or citations issued to licensees/businesses participating in the CCA.
- Other public safety data including:
 - Police service calls;
 - Public intoxication;
 - Detoxification calls; and
 - Traffic safety including DUIs and vehicle vs. pedestrian collisions.
- Sales and other economic indicators for businesses participating in CCAs;
- Customer or pedestrian counts to assess public participation in CCAs; and
- Customer surveys to assess public perception of CCAs.

Suggested Citation

Watson, T.D., Okey, S.A., & Glodosky, N.C. (2025). Research brief: Alcohol common consumption areas. Washington State Liquor and Cannabis Board.

https://lcb.wa.gov/research/briefs

References

- Denver City Council. (2019). Denver Excise and Licenses: Liquor Common Consumption. <u>https://denvergov.org/files/assets/p</u> <u>ublic/v/1/business-</u> <u>licensing/documents/cca_biz_prese</u> <u>ntation_oct2019.pdf</u>
- 2. Arneill, P. Common Consumption Area (CCA) Information Presentation. Lawrence, Kansas. <u>https://assets.lawrenceks.org/lprd/La</u> <u>wrence-CCA-Info-Presentation.pdf</u>
- 3. Morton, H. (2013). A Cocktail To Go. *Trends* – *State Legislatures,* Pg. 11.
- 4. Denver Excise and Licenses. (2021). Rules Governing Common Consumption Areas. <u>https://denvergov.org/files/assets/p</u> <u>ublic/v/1/business-</u> <u>licensing/documents/cca-rules-</u> <u>final.pdf</u>
- Alabama Code §28-3A-17.1 (2022). Entertainment district designation in certain municipalities. <u>https://alison.legislature.state.al.us/co de-of-alabama</u>
- Arkansas Code Annotated §14-54-1412 (2023). Designated entertainment districts. <u>https://portal.arkansas.gov/</u>
- West's Annotated California Business and Professional Code §25607 (2024). Possession of beverages unauthorized for sale; presumption; seizure; exception; shared common licensed areas; multiple licenses; shared common licensed area between manufacturer and multiple

retailers.

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/

- Colorado Revised Statute Annotated §44-3-910 (2018). Common consumption areas. <u>https://leg.colorado.gov/laws</u>
- Kansas Statute Annotated §41-2659 (2023). Common consumption areas; cities and counties; permits; duties and liabilities; signs posted that identify boundaries of area. <u>https://www.ksrevisor.org/ksa.html</u>
- 10. Maine Revised Statute Annotated 28-A, §1080 (2019). Common consumption areas. <u>https://legislature.maine.gov/statutes/</u> search.htm
- 11. Michigan Compiled Laws Annotated §436.1551 (2022). Social district permits; designation of social district; management of maintenance of common area; sale and consumption of alcoholic liquor; application and renewal procedure. https://legislature.mi.gov/Laws/MCLS

<u>earch</u>

- 12. Mississippi Code Annotated §67-1-101 (2018). Leisure and recreation districts established and modified by municipalities; detailed geographic descriptions; law enforcement and public safety measures and services. https://billstatus.ls.state.ms.us/sessio ns.htm
- 13. Vernon's Annotated Missouri Statute §311.086 (2021). Portable bars, entertainment district special license—definitions—issuance, procedure (Kansas City). <u>https://revisor.mo.gov/main/Ho</u>

<u>me.aspx</u>

 Nebraska Revised Statute §53-123.17 (2016). Entertainment district license; rights of license; application; fee; commission; duties; occupation tax; local governing body; powers. https://nebraskalegislature.gov/laws/b rowse-statutes.php

- 15. North Carolina General Statute Annotated §18B300.5. (2024). Authorization of common area entertainment permit. <u>https://www.ncleg.gov/Laws/General</u> <u>Statutes</u>
- 16. Oklahoma Statute Annotated Title 37A §6-109 (2024). Prohibited acts of mixed beverage, beer and wine, bottle club, caterer, charitable event, public event or special event licensees or employee, manager, operator or agent thereof. <u>http://www.oklegislature.gov/BasicS</u> <u>earchForm.aspx</u>
- 17. Vernon's Texas Code Annotated §108.82 (2021). Alcoholic beverage consumption in public entertainment facilities and zones. <u>https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Inde</u> <u>x.aspx</u>
- National Conference of State Legislatures (NCSL). (2023). Open Container and Consumption Statutes. <u>https://www.ncsl.org/financial-</u> <u>services/open-container-and-</u> <u>consumption-statutes</u>
- 19. City of Hays, Kansas. (2024). Common Consumption Area. <u>https://www.haysusa.com/898/Comm</u> <u>on-Consumption-Area</u>
- 20. Hardy, K. (2023). 'I felt so naughty': New open carry alcohol laws boost downtowns. *Stateline*. <u>https://stateline.org/2023/11/06/i-</u> <u>felt-so-naughty-new-open-carry-</u> <u>alcohol-laws-boost-downtowns/</u>
- 21. Pazulski, K. (2024). Denver's Common Consumption Area Program Has Been a Bust. *Westword*. <u>https://www.westword.com/restaura</u> <u>nts/denver-common-consumptionarea-program-has-been-a-bust-20929326</u>